IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPEAL NO. 2010-TS-00639

HILDA JANE ROBY KELLY APPELLANT

v.

THERESA A. ROBY, MARY PHYFER, d/b/a SRT INVESTMENTS, GARON ROBY, SHANE ROBY and SHARON ROBY SARGENT, Individually and as Administratrix of the ESTATE OF JIMMY DALE ROBY, DECEASED APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Monroe County, Mississippi, (Cause No. 2005-570-48-M) (Consolidated with Pontotoc County, Mississippi Chancery Cause No. 14,115) The Honorable Jacqueline Estes Mask, Chancery Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Attorney for Appellant:

Rhett R. Russell (MSB Russell & Russell, PLLC P.O. Box 27 Tupelo, MS 38802

HILDA JANE ROBY KELLY

APPELLANT

NO. 2010-TS-00639

VS.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented upon this appeal:

1. Whether or not the lower court erred in failing to set aside and hold for naught as

to Hilda Jane Roby Kelly (hereinafter referred to as "Hilda") the conveyances of Jimmy Dale Roby (hereinafter referred to as "Jimmy") in favor of his sister-in-law, Mary Phyfer (hereinafter referred to as "Mary") asserted to have been entered into with the intention to hinder, delay or defraud Hilda as his judgment creditor in satisfaction of a questionable antecedent indebtedness of which the burden of proof was not met requiring showing by clear and satisfactory evidence not only that the indebtedness was bona fide with intentions to be enforced, but also that the amount thereof was not materially less than the fair and reasonable value of the properties conveyed.

2. Whether or not the lower court erred in finding that the real properties in question were assets of or reachable by Jimmy's probate estate and, whether contradictorily, finding that the real properties in question as of Jimmy's death were owned by him and Theresa as joint

iii

tenants with right of survivorship, or as tenants by the entireties, resulting in his ownership therein passing immediately upon his demise to her.

 Whether or not the lower court erred in not ruling that by application of § 89-5-3 MCA Jimmy's unrecorded conveyances to his sister-in-law were void as to Hilda, his judgment creditor.

HILDA JANE ROBY KELLY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-TS-00639

THERESA A. ROBY, MARY PHYFER, d/b/a SRT INVESTMENTS, GARON ROBY, SHANE ROBY and SHARON ROBY SARGENT, Individually and as Administratrix of the ESTATE OF JIMMY DALE ROBY, DECEASED

APPELLEES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

COMES NOW, Hilda Jane Roby Kelly pursuant to Rule 28(a)(4) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure and submits herewith her statement of the case.

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition by Lower Court

A December 10, 1979 Final Decree of Divorce as to Jimmy and Hilda was entered by the Pontotoc County Chancery Court mandating, and incorporating therein their support agreement, setting forth his required child support payments to her. On September 24, 1998, Hilda caused to be filed her motion for citation for contempt and monetary judgment for delinquent child support. On March 30, 1999, the Chancery Court approved an agreed order of judgment finding Jimmy in contempt for failure to pay child support and finding him to be in arrearage for the period beginning May 1, 1995 through March 1, 1997 while awarding Hilda a judgment against him in the amount of \$6,000.00. Such judgment was enrolled on the judgment rolls of the Circuit Clerk of Monroe County on May 28, 1999. Jimmy passed away on August 4, 2002 and on August 20, 2002 four deeds each dated March 3, 1999 from Jimmy and Theresa in favor of her sister were recorded in the Land Deed Records of Monroe County.

Hilda caused to be filed her petition, later amended, for a writ of execution and for the sale of real properties in Monroe County in which, as to Hilda, Jimmy held ownership interest as of enrollment of her judgment and at all times relevant thereafter. The petition designated Theresa and her sister as defendants and later Garon Roby, Shane Roby and Sharon Roby Sargent, the remaining heirs at law of Jimmy, were added as defendants. Thereafter Jimmy's probate proceeding was initiated in Monroe County Chancery Court with the probate proceeding and the Pontotoc County proceeding consolidated. Theresa and Mary were duly served with process and each, along with the remaining three defendants, made personal appearances in the lower court proceedings did either Theresa or Mary cause to be filed an answer to the petition or the amended petition of Hilda.

The lower court refused the relief requested by Hilda while finding that Hilda's petition should be construed as a petition to sell real property belonging to the probate estate of Jimmy and further finding, somewhat contradictorily, that the real properties in question passed immediately to Theresa upon Jimmy's death in that such was then held and owned by Jimmy and Theresa as joint tenants with rights of survivorship or as tenants by the entireties. Hilda moved the court to alter or amend its judgment which the lower court denied.

Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

Facts relevant to the issues presented for review set forth in chronological order are as follows:

Date(s)	Occurrence
December 10, 1979	Final Decree for Divorce as to Jimmy and his then wife, Hilda, was entered directing Jimmy to make child support payments while incorporating therein the written agreement of the parties for such payments (R $15-22^{1}$).
June 1, 1995 - April 11, 1998	Jimmy made no child support payment to Hilda and was in arrearage for child support payments for this time period (R 24-29, R 37-38, Exhibit 2).
February 11, 1998	Four deeds of trust dated December 1, 1997 executed by Jimmy and his then wife, Theresa, were recorded being secured by five parcels of Monroe County real property for an alleged \$200,000.00 indebtedness in favor of "SRT Investments" which was later identified to be a name utilized by his sister-in-law (Exhibit 1, T 35, 38 and 39^2).
September 24, 1998	Hilda filed her motion for citation for contempt asserting under oath that Jimmy had not paid child support from May 1, 1995 through March 1, 1997 except for two checks which bounced (RE 12, R 24-29).
March 30, 1999	The parties jointly submitted and the court entered an agreed order of judgment finding Jimmy in contempt of court for failure to pay child support and finding that he was in arrearage for child support payments for the period beginning May 1, 1995 through March 1, 1997 while awarding Hilda a judgment against him for delinquent child support payments in the amount of \$6,000.00 (RE 18, R 37- 38, Exhibit 2 and T 32, 36, and 39).

¹All references to the record, "R," shall throughout this brief refer to the separate record of the Pontotoc County Chancery Court proceeding unless specifically noted otherwise.

²All references to the transcript, "T," shall throughout this brief refer to the transcript of the August 6, 2009 lower court proceeding and testimony.

March 30, 2010

The lower court denied Hilda's motion to alter or amend its judgment while reasserting that the subject real properties were assets of Jimmy's probate estate and, again somewhat contradictorily, that such real properties were held as of his death by him and Theresa as joint tenants with right of survivorship with all of his ownership interest therein passing at such time immediately to Theresa (RE 35, R 239-243).

·. .

HILDA JANE ROBY KELLY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-TS-00639

THERESA A. ROBY, MARY PHYFER, d/b/a SRT INVESTMENTS, GARON ROBY, SHANE ROBY and SHARON ROBY SARGENT, Individually and as Administratrix of the ESTATE OF JIMMY DALE ROBY, DECEASED

APPELLEES

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hilda petitioned the Chancery Court for writ of execution to sell so much of the property of Jimmy Dale Roby (hereinafter referred to as "Jimmy") so as to satisfy the judgment against him in favor of Hilda Jane Roby Kelly (hereinafter referred to as "Hilda") alleging that his conveyances of the lands in question were not in satisfaction of a bona fide antecedent indebtedness but an attempt to defraud her as a judgment creditor and that such conveyances were void to her as a judgment creditor. Neither his then wife, Theresa Roby (hereinafter referred to as "Theresa"), nor her sister, Mary Phyfer (hereinafter referred to as "Mary"), filed an answer in the lower court proceedings and Mississippi law is quite clear that "averments in a pleading to which an answer is required are deemed admitted when not denied in the answer."

The lower court's March 30, 1999 "agreed order of judgment" adjudicated Jimmy to be in contempt of court for failure to pay Hilda child support while finding his child support arrearage to be \$6,000.00 for the period beginning May 1, 1995 through March 1, 1997. Mississippi's statutory law, § 93-11-71 MCA, specifies that when court-ordered child support payments remain

unpaid for a period of at least thirty (30) days then judgments arose by operation of law against Jimmy as the obligor in favor of Hilda having the "same effect and fully enforceable as any other judgment entered in this state" which "shall operate as a lien upon all the properties of the judgment debtor, both real and personal." A judgment debtor and judgment creditor relationship existed between Jimmy and Hilda from and after June 1, 1995.

Almost five years after Hilda's initial judgment against Jimmy, more than five months after Hilda filed her motion requesting that Jimmy be found in contempt of court and for judgment of his non-payment of child support and less than a month prior to the entry of the agreed order adjudicating such, Jimmy signed four March 3, 1999 deeds conveying all his ownership interest in five parcels of real property, being all his material possessions, to "SRT Investments" which was later admitted to be a name utilized by his sister-in-law, Mary. Neither Theresa nor Mary met their requisite burden of proof to show by clear and satisfactory evidence that a bona fide indebtedness existed which was intended to be enforced and further that the amount of such alleged indebtedness was not materially less than the fair and reasonable value of the property conveyed. Further, since the March 3, 1999 deeds Mary never took possession of the subject properties. Jimmy and Theresa continued to reside on the subject properties and otherwise had exclusive use. Jimmy and Theresa never relinquished control of the subject properties. The March 3, 1999 deeds were executed by Jimmy while a lower court motion to hold him in contempt and for judgment against him was pending and at a time when he was by statute a judgment debtor of Hilda. The deeds were not recorded until April 20, 2002 being more than three years after execution thereof and weeks subsequent to his death. It is obvious that the conveyances were transacted with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud Hilda as a judgment

creditor. The lower court should have set aside and held for naught Jimmy's conveyances as per his judgment creditor, Hilda.

The deeds from Jimmy to his wife's sister were recorded subsequent to the enrollment of Hilda's judgment against him in the judgment rolls of the Circuit Clerk of Monroe County where the subject parcels are located. Such enrollment extended to Theresa constructive notice of Hilda's judgment against Jimmy. By statute, § 89-5-3 MCA, Jimmy's conveyances to his sisterin-law were void as to Hilda as his judgment creditor. Even though the deeds were not recorded until subsequent to the enrollment of Hilda's judgment and subsequent to Jimmy's demise, such conveyances were valid as to the parties thereto. Prior to such conveyances Jimmy and Theresa as husband and wife held such properties as joint tenants by the entireties with right of survivorship. The fact that both of them signed the deeds in favor of Mary effectively terminated the tenancy by the entireties and terminated Theresa's ownership interest therein. Jimmy's conveyances to Mary were valid as to her but void as to Hilda. He transferred the properties to Mary subject to the right of Hilda as judgment creditor to have the property seized under a writ of execution for satisfaction of her judgment. The judgment lien followed the land and not Jimmy to his grave.

The lower court further erred in finding that the real properties conveyed by Jimmy during his lifetime were property of his probate estate and further erred in contradictorily finding that as of Jimmy's death the subject real properties passed to Theresa who with Jimmy then held the properties as joint tenants with right of survivorship, or as tenants by the entireties.

The lower court should have set aside and held for naught as to Hilda the conveyances of Jimmy so as to allow her to proceed with execution.

HILDA JANE ROBY KELLY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-TS-00639

THERESA A. ROBY, MARY PHYFER, d/b/a SRT INVESTMENTS, GARON ROBY, SHANE ROBY and SHARON ROBY SARGENT, Individually and as Administratrix of the ESTATE OF JIMMY DALE ROBY, DECEASED

APPELLEES

ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER OR NOT THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET ASIDE AND HOLD FOR NAUGHT AS TO HILDA THE CONVEYANCES OF JIMMY IN FAVOR OF HIS SISTER-IN-LAW, MARY, ASSERTED TO HAVE BEEN ENTERED INTO WITH THE INTENTION TO HINDER, DELAY OR DEFRAUD HILDA AS HIS JUDGMENT CREDITOR IN SATISFACTION OF A QUESTIONABLE ANTECEDENT INDEBTEDNESS OF WHICH THE REQUISITE BURDEN OF PROOF WAS NOT MET BY SHOWING BY CLEAR AND SATISFACTORY EVIDENCE NOT ONLY THAT THE INDEBTEDNESS WAS BONA FIDE WITH INTENTIONS TO BE ENFORCED, BUT ALSO THAT THE AMOUNT THEREOF WAS NOT MATERIALLY LESS THAN THE FAIR AND REASONABLE VALUE OF THE PROPERTIES CONVEYED.

Hilda requested the lower court to set aside as to her as Jimmy's judgment creditor his

conveyances to his sister-in-law while asserting in her petition and amended petitions under oath

that such transactions were entered into by the parties thereto in a conspiratorial attempt to

defraud and hinder her as his creditor and that such transactions were not supported by good and

sufficient consideration (R 39-45, R 86-93 and R 191-192). Neither the decedent's wife,

Theresa, nor his sister-in-law, Mary, caused to be filed an answer in the lower court proceeding.

A defendant shall serve an answer and every defense, in law or fact, to a claim for relief in any

pleading shall be asserted. Rule 12 MRCP. Each averment in a pleading to which an answer is required is deemed admitted when not denied in the answer. Rule 8(d) MRCP and Griffith, Mississippi Chancery Practice, 2000 Edition, ¶ 346.

An agreed order of judgment dated March 30, 1999 between Jimmy and Hilda was entered by the Chancery Court of Pontotoc County adjudicating Jimmy to be in contempt of court for failure to pay monthly child support, specifically finding him to be in arrears in child support for the period beginning May 1, 1995 through March 1, 1997 and awarding Hilda judgment against him in the amount of \$6,000.00 for delinquent child support payments (RE 18, R 37-38, Exhibit 2, T 36, 39). § 93-11-71 MCA states:

"Whenever a court orders any person to make periodic payments of a sum certain for the maintenance or support of a child, and whenever such payments as have become due remain unpaid for a period of at least thirty (30) days, a judgment by operation of law shall arise against the obligor in an amount equal to all payments that are then due and owing. A judgment arising under this section shall have the same effect and be fully enforceable as any other judgment entered in this state. A judicial or administrative action to enforce the judgment may be begun at any time; ... Any judgment arising under the provisions of this section shall operate as a lien upon all the property of the judgment debtor, both real and personal ..."

Thus, by application of this statute, between June 1, 1995 and April 1, 1997 Hilda obtained consecutive monthly judgments by operation of law against Jimmy.

On February 11, 1998 Jimmy as the judgment debtor of Hilda signed but did not record four deeds of trust with the collateral being all of his real properties consisting of five parcels in Monroe County in favor of "SRT Investments" [later admitted to be his sister-in-law T 38] for an alleged \$200,000.00 (Exhibit 1, T 35, 39). Jimmy's wife testified that this indebtedness resulted from \$200,000.00 "mostly in cash" paid to them by her sister (T 39).

Hilda's judgment against Jimmy was enrolled on May 28, 1999 in the judgment rolls of the Circuit Clerk of Monroe County (RE 20, Exhibit 3, T 37, 39). On August 4, 2002 Jimmy passed away (T 32, 39). Thereafter on August 20, 2002 four deeds as to all the real property previously held by Jimmy and his wife dated March 3, 1999 in favor of "SRT Investments" were recorded in the Land Deed Records of Monroe County (RE 21, Exhibit 1, T 39). Importantly, as of Jimmy's March 3, 1999 executions of the deeds the September 24, 1998 motion of Hilda to hold Jimmy in contempt and for judgment for child support arrearage was pending and less than a month had passed since Jimmy had agreed to an order finding him to be in contempt of court for failure to pay child support for the period beginning May 1, 1995 through March 1, 1997 (RE 12, RE 18, R 24-29, R 37-38, Exhibit 2). Further, at all times subsequent to the execution of the March 3, 1999 deeds Jimmy's sister-in-law never took possession of the subject properties and Jimmy and his wife never relinquished control thereof while continuing to utilize one parcel for residential purposes and all properties for their own benefit (T 41).

§ 15-3-3 MCA states:

" Every ... conveyance of lands ... by writing ... had or made and contrived of ... fraud, covin collusion, or guile, to the intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts ... shall be deemed and taken only as against the person or persons, ... and every of them whose debts, ... or interests by such guileful and covinous devices and practices shall or might be in any wise disturbed, hindered, delayed, or defrauded, to be clearly and utterly void; any pretense, color, feigned consideration, expressing of use, or any other matter or thing to the contrary notwithstanding."

Conveyances made to satisfy or secure antecedent indebtednesses were discussed in Blount v.

Blount, 95 So.2d 545 (Miss. 1957) as follows:

"A conveyance or transfer, whether founded on a valuable and adequate consideration or not, if entered into by the parties with the intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors, is void as to them, and this rule has been applied to transfers made in anticipation of, or pending, a suit against the transferor." *Id.* at 552.

"The rule is well settled that, in a case of this kind, where it is claimed that a conveyance was made to satisfy or secure an antecedent indebtedness, there must be clear and convincing proof of the existence of a valid debt, including disclosure of details as to the items and amount of the debt, and it must clearly appear that the conveyance was in fact made in consideration of such debt. The necessity of clear and satisfactory proof of indebtedness particularly exists in the case of conveyances to near relatives," *Id.* at 557.

"It seems incredible that a businessman should make advances of money and other financial assistance over a period of years, even to a member of his own family ... for which he expected to demand payments at a later date, and yet preserve no contemporaneous records, memoranda or books of account, to show the dates or amounts of such advancements. The lack of such records in this case is sufficient in itself to cast doubt and suspicion upon the claims put forth by the appellant in an effort to show a preexisting debt equal to or in excess of the value of the property conveyed to him; and the fact that the appellant had failed to preserve and was unable to produce any contemporaneous records or books of account to support his claim ... is a circumstance in itself which strongly indicates that the appellant did not intend that the assistance rendered in each such instance should constitute a debt for which payment should be exacted ... [T]he financial assistance rendered by the appellant ... over a period of years, for which no records were kept, was not intended to be treated as a debt at the time such assistance was rendered, and that the purpose to treat the same as a debt was not formed until the prospect of a decree for (support) in favor of the appellee was imminent." Id. at 559.

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