IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HILDA JANE ROBY KELLY

APPELLANT

VS.

.....

CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-00639

THERESA A. ROBY, MARY PHYFER, d/b/a SRT INVESTMENTS, GARON ROBY, SHANE ROBY and SHARON ROBY SARGENT, Individually and as Administratrix of the ESTATE OF JIMMY DALE ROBY, DECEASED

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Pontotoc County, Mississippi, Civil Case No. CV1998-177BP2 (Hon. Jacqueline E. Mask, Chancery Judge)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE MARY PHYFER

DAVID E. FLAUTT (MS BAR LAWYER 1308 NORTH LAMAR BLVD., STE. 8 OXFORD, MS 38655 662-281-0678 Telephone 662-232-8074 Facsimile *e-mail: dflautt@bellsoutb.net*

and

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant has raised three issues for this Court to consider. The first issue, whether the conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa to Mary Phyfer were fraudulent under Miss. Code Ann. §15-3-3, was not raised at any time in the lower court proceedings, and the Appellant should be estopped from having it heard here. The Appellant never sought, in either of her petitions, to set aside and/or cancel the conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby to Mary Phyfer. What she repeatedly asked the lower court to do was to set aside the four deeds of trust from the Robys to Mary Phyfer that predate her judgment, so that her judgment lien would take priority over those instruments.

In 2006, Jimmy Dale Roby's estate and children filed an objection to what they perceived to be Mary Phyfer's claim against the estate, and moved the Chancery Court of Monroe County to set aside the conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby, and the Appellant joined in the relief sought by that motion. However that pleading was never heard by the trial court, nor was it considered in the Orders and Judgments that were entered. There are at least two glaring defects in the Objection/Motion to Set Aside. First, the moving parties failed to include all of the parties in interest, particularly Mary Phyfer, who was the current record owner of the properties at the time of filing, and second, the Objection/Motion was filed beyond the applicable statute of limitations. Therefore, the trial court was correct to not consider that pleading.

The Appellant's second and third issues are interrelated and center on the trial court's application of Miss. Code Ann. §89-5-3 to the five pieces of realty that Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby owned and conveyed to Mary Phyfer. The Appellant received and enrolled her \$6,000.00 judgment against Jimmy Dale Roby after Jimmy Dale and Theresa executed the deeds to Mary Phyfer. Mary Phyfer, at Jimmy Dale's request, delayed in recording her warranty deeds and did not record them until after Jimmy Dale's death. The trial court held that according to the express language of Miss. Code Ann. §89-5-3, the conveyances to Mary Phyfer were void as to the Appellant's judgment lien, but as the statute further provided, the conveyances between the Robys and Mary Phyfer were valid. This ruling meant that Mary 's title was initially subject to the Appellant's judgment. Because the statute provided that the conveyances were void as to the Appellant, meaning that as far as she was concerned, Jimmy Dale and Theresa had never deeded the property and still held the five pieces of realty as joint tenants with right of survivorship or as tenants by the entirety on the same terms. Though she could have, the Appellant did not attempt to execute on her judgment until more than a year after Jimmy Dale Roby's death. Upon Jimmy Dale's death, title to the properties passed to Theresa, his survivor, and did not become part of Jimmy Dale's estate, as provided by Mississippi law. By the time the Appellant finally filed her Petition for Writ of Execution, neither Jimmy Dale nor his estate owned any interest in the real estate against which the Appellant could execute. Even though she did not provide the trial court with any authority to support her position, the Appellant complains that the trial court failed to apply Miss. Code Ann. §89-5-3 to the action below. The reality, however, is that the lower court thoroughly researched these issues and made the only reasonable and logical application of that statute to the facts of this case that the law supports. Accordingly, the Appellant's second and third issues on appeal must fail, too.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

-11-

In applying the appropriate standard of review to a Chancellor's decision, this Court has said that it "will not disturb the factual findings of a chancellor unless such findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous." *Estate of Dykes v. Estate of Williams*, 864 So.2d 926, 930 (Miss. 2003) (citing *In re Conservatorship of Bardwell*, 849 So.2d 1240, 1245 (Miss. 2003))

Further, "[i]f there is substantial evidence to support the chancellor's findings of fact, those findings must be affirmed." *Id.* "However, [an appellate court] reviews questions of law *de novo.*" *Estate of Dykes*, 864 So.2d at 930 (citing *Morgan v. West*, 812 So.2d 987, 990 (Miss. 2002)); cited in *Morgan v. Lawrence*, 909 So.2d 99, 102 (Miss. App. 2005)

Though it requested the parties' input for law controlling, none was provided prior to issuing the November 3, 2009 Opinion and Judgment which is appealed here. A review of the record clearly reveals that the trial court thoroughly researched the law relative to those issues the Appellant presented, and correctly applied that law to the hearing transcripts and other evidence in the record. Substantial evidence exists to support the trial court's findings, and it rulings appealed here should be affirmed.

I. HILDA KELLY'S ARGUMENT THAT THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET ASIDE AND HOLD FOR NAUGHT, AS TO HILDA, THE CONVEYANCES BY JIMMY DALE IN FAVOR OF HIS SISTER-IN-LAW, MARY PHYFER, ASSERTED TO HAVE BEEN ENTERED INTO WITH THE INTENTION TO HINDER, DELAY OR DEFRAUD HILDA, AS HIS JUDGMENT CREDITOR, IN SATISFACTION OF A QUESTIONABLE ANTECEDENT INDEBTEDNESS OF WHICH THE REQUISITE BURDEN OF PROOF WAS NOT MET BY SHOWING BY CLEAR AND SATISFACTORY EVIDENCE NOT ONLY THAT THE INDEBTEDNESS WAS BONA FIDE WITH INTENTIONS TO BE ENFORCED, BUT ALSO THAT THE AMOUNT THEREOF WAS NOT MATERIALLY LESS THAN THE FAIR AND REASONABLE VALUE OF THE PROPERTIES CONVEYED MUST FAIL

This issue and multiple arguments included within it were not raised by the Appellant before the trial court. They are making their first appearance here. This Court has consistently and repeatedly ruled that new issues not properly raised in the lower court may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *Estate of Haynes v. Steele*, 699 So.2d 918, 926 (Miss. 1997) An appellant such as Hilda Kelly is not entitled to raise a new issue on appeal. Crowe v. Smith, 603 So.2d 301, 305 (Miss.1992).

Hilda alleges that she asked the lower court to set aside, as to her, what she has suggested to be fraudulent conveyances by Jimmy Dale to Mary Phyfer.⁷ In poring through both petitions and other pleadings and all of the motions filed by the Appellant in the Pontotoc case and the August 6, 2009 hearing transcript where the Appellant presented her case-in-chief to the lower court, there are no instances where Hilda ever made such a request.

Neither the original nor amended Petitions filed by Hilda contained any prayer requests by which she asked to set aside Jimmy Dale's 1999 conveyances to Mary.⁸ (PR 43-44, RE 5-6; PR 9, RE

⁷ Brief of Appellant, p. 9

_

⁸ In both versions of her Petition, the Appellant asked the Chancery Court of Pontotoc County to grant her the following specific relief:

- 1. Recognize that Petitioner's aforestated monetary judgment is a valid lien as to each of the aforedescribed parcels of real property;
- 2. Shall recognize that the Judgment lien of Petitioner as to the aforesaid real property has priority over any claim or demand of any one or more of the Respondents and of SRT Investments;
- 3. Shall issue its order directing the Circuit Clerk of Monroe County, Mississippi, to issue execution directed to the Sheriff of Monroe County, Mississippi, returnable before this Court, appointing a special commissioner who shall sell so much or all of the aforedescribed real property so as to satisfy the monetary Judgment in favor of Petitioner, as well as costs of such sale by execution and all costs incurred by Petitioner herein, including a reasonable attorney fee; and

The variances between the prayers in the two Petitions begin with ¶4. The Original seeks the following:

4. Subsequent to such sale that a confirmation proceeding be had by this Court.

Followed by the following unnumbered request for alternative relief:

... Should this Court find and conclude that the aforestated Deeds to SRT Investments recorded on the 20th day of August, 2002, do not legally cancel and hold for naught the aforestated Real Estate Deeds of Trust in favor of SRT Investments recorded on the 11th day of February, 1998, as to each of the aforedescribed parcels of real property; then alternatively, Petitioner would pray that each said Real Estate Deed of Trust be set aside in that each such transaction was an attempt to defraud Petitioner as a creditor. 13) The Estate's Objection to what it characterized as Mary Phyfer's claim also sought to have the conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa set aside, and Hilda joined with Jimmy Dale's children in that 2006 pleading. (MR 31-37, RE 33-38) However, from the transcripts of all the hearings in both actions below, it is clear that the estate never asked the trial court to consider this motion. In fact, the estate's counsel represented to the court that his clients were only pursuing the decedent's personal assets. (8-28-09 T 62-63)

In its October 23, 2009 Opinion and Judgment of Personal Property of Estate in the Monroe County case, the trial court specifically stated that she was not addressing "the issues raised in the Petition for Writ of Execution, Appointment of Special Commissioner and for Sale of Real Property under Execution and subsequent pleadings filed in Pontotoc County..." (PR 195, RE 35) The court apparently understood that those issues would be addressed by separate opinion in the Pontotoc case, and they were.

The November 3, 2009 Opinion and Judgment on Petition for Writ of Execution and Other Relief in the Pontotoc case specifically referred to the September 20, 2006 Objection to Claim of Mary Phyfer, d/b/a SRT Investments as Alleged Creditor and Motion to Set Aside Conveyances filed in the Monroe County estate as "not properly [being] before the Court at this time and which are not specifically considered in this opinion." (PR 210)

The trial court correctly decided that it would have been improper to address the estate's objection as part of Hilda's petition, and two primary reasons support this. The estate and Jimmy Dale's

There is no request for alternative relief in the Amended Petition, as it was evidently abandoned by the Appellant.

^{¶4} of the Amended Petition's prayer for relief asks for:

^{4.} Shall grant Petitioner judgment against Theresa A. Roby and Mary Phyfer, jointly and severally, for any portion of Petitioner's attorney's fees and other costs of litigation not satisfied from such sales proceeds, as well as punitive damages in an amount deemed reasonable and appropriate by this Court.

children objected to Mary's "claim" pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-167, but they failed follow the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-195, to include all of the "parties necessary" by summons or publication. (PR 213) Mary Phyfer, as record owner of the properties, was never summoned or otherwise included in that proceeding, and the August 2009 joinder of these two cases did not cure this defect.

A second compelling reason supporting the trial court's decision not to consider the 2006 Objection/Motion was that the pleading was untimely filed. Mary Phyfer recorded her deeds from Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby on August 22, 2002, at which time the time period within which to contest them began to run. However, Jimmy Dale's children and his estate, joined in by Jimmy Dale's ex-wife, did not file their Objection/Motion until more than four (4) years later. The action to set aside the conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa to Mary Phyfer is governed by the three (3) year statute of limitations, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-45. See O'Neal Steel, Inc. v. Millette, 797 So.2d 869 (Miss. 2001) Accordingly, the Objection/Motion is time barred.

Hilda's use of Miss. Code Ann. §93-11-71 to classify herself as a judgment creditor of Jimmy Dale, beginning as early as May 1, 1995, was never explained or provided to the lower court. That statute and related argument are making their first appearances before this Court, and because of Hilda's failure to raise them below, the trial court should not be put in error on a matter which was not presented to it for decision. See *Parker v. Game and Fish Commission*, 555 So.2d 725, 730 (Miss.1989), and *Mills v. Nichols*, 467 So.2d 924, 931 (Miss.1985). The Appellant should be estopped from raising Issue I. This is especially true where the trial court asked the Appellant for controlling authority, and none was submitted. It was also not furnished after the trial court, based on its own research, issued its ruling that was unfavorable to the Appellant. Thereafter the Appellant filed her post-trial motion asking the court to rectify its mistake, but again failed to present this argument, or even furnish the court with the authority she utilizes now.

-15-

Despite the Appellant's lack of clarity in stating her first issue, Mary Phyfer, out of an abundance of caution, will quickly address what she understands it to be. For reasons similar to those provided in the trial court's November 3rd Opinion and Judgment – that due to the survivorship rights applicable to all five pieces of realty, there was no interest in these jointly held properties following Jimmy Dale Roby's death to which the Appellant's judgment could attach – this argument must also fail.

Continuing with the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §93-11-71, immediately following the language quoted by the Appellant is the following: [the judgment lien under this statute] "shall be perfected as to third parties without actual notice thereof only upon enrollment on the judgment roll." There was no proof below that Mary Phyfer had actual notice of Jimmy Dale's unpaid child support obligations for Shane, and it is undisputed that the judgment was not enrolled in Monroe County until May 28, 1999. It is also uncontroverted that this enrollment was subsequent to Jimmy Dale's and Theresa's November 1997 execution of the promissory notes, the December 1997 deeds of trust, and the four March 3, 1999 warranty deeds to Mary Phyfer.

Miss. Code Ann. §15-3-3, repealed as of July 1, 2006, and replaced by the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, §§ 15-3-101 et. seq., was also not raised by the Appellant until the filing of her brief here, and Hilda should likewise be estopped from asserting that statute and any case authority flowing from it. Estate of Haynes, at p. 926.

The Appellant goes to great length in arguing that under *Blount v. Blount*, 95 So.2d. 545 (Miss. 1957), that under Miss. Code Ann. §15-3-3, the burden of proving that the 1998 conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby to Mary Phyfer were in good faith and not for the alleged purpose of defrauding the Appellant, had shifted to Mary Phyfer. However, neither §15-3-3 nor *Blount* were applicable to the instant action, because the relief Hilda sought against Mary was not setting aside the conveyances from the Robys to Mary, but the Appellant, in both petitions, asked the court to declare the liens created by Mary's deeds of trust invalid or inferior to Hilda's judgment lien. In short, Hilda

-16-

wanted to be in a first, priority position so that she could execute on her judgment without being subject to the liens created by the prior recorded deeds of trust.

Assuming *arguendo*, that Miss. Code Ann. § 15-3-3 does apply here and Hilda shouldn't be estopped from asserting it, the Appellant conveniently omits the consequence that this Court must adopt if the conveyances to Mary Phyfer are, in fact, fraudulent under the statute. Essentially, if the conveyances from Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby are fraudulent, then they are to be considered void. Though she has quoted the definition of this term, the Appellant has had great difficulty understanding what a "void" conveyance means. A void conveyance is one that never occurred, and if that is the case, then Jimmy Dale and Theresa Roby continued to own the five parcels of property as either joint tenants or tenants by the entirety, and upon Jimmy Dale's death, his interests immediately passed to Theresa, his survivor. Under this scenario, there was no remaining interest in the real properties against which Hilda could execute by the time she got around to doing so in September 2004.

For the reasons stated above, the Appelant's argument of this issue should fail.

II. THE APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT THAT THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE REAL PROPERTIES IN QUESTION WERE ASSETS OF, OR REACHABLE BY, JIMMY DALE'S PROBATE ESTATE, AND WHETHER CONTRADICTORILY, FINDING THAT THE REAL PROPERTIES IN QUESTION AS OF JIMMY DALE'S DEATH WERE OWNED BY HIM AND THERESA AS JOINT TENANTS WITH RIGHT OF SURVIVORSHIP, OR AS TENANTS BY THE ENTIRETIES, RESULTING IN HIS OWNERSHIP THEREIN PASSING IMMEDIATELY UPON HIS DEMISE TO HER MUST ALSO FAIL

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